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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

RICHARD R. PAYETTE, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

GRAY LINE OF ALASKA,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

HOLLAND AMERICA LINE,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  199817351
        AWCB Decision No. 01- 0057 

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         March 30, 2001

On February 7, 2001, in Anchorage, Alaska, we heard the employee’s claims for temporary total disability (“TTD”), medical benefits, penalties, costs and attorney’s fees.  Attorney Charles W. Coe represented the employee.  Attorney Peggy Roston represented the employer. We left the record open to receive additional information regarding medical expenses and to permit the parties, in lieu of closing arguments and in light of the complexity of the factual history, to submit proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law.  We closed the record on the date that we next met to deliberate, February 28, 2001.


ISSUES

1. Is the employee entitled to additional temporary total disability benefits for 18 separate days he was off work from September 1, 1998 through May 24, 1999?

2. Is the employee entitled to penalties under AS 23.30.155?

3. Shall we refer this matter for criminal prosecution under AS 23.30.255(a)?

4. Is the employee entitled to attorney’s fees and legal costs under AS 23.30.145?

5. Is the employee entitled to an award for future surgery?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The employee worked for Grayline of Alaska (“the employer”) as a tour bus driver during the summer of 1998.  On August 7, 1998, the employee was injured while driving his own vehicle to go make photocopies to hand out to his passengers.  He sustained injuries to his head and hand.  He filed a claim for Workers’ Compensation benefits, and the employer controverted the claim as being beyond the course and scope of employment.  A hearing solely on the issue of course and scope was heard by the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“board”) on June 20, 2000.  On August 9, 2000, the board found the employee’s injuries fell within the course and scope of his employment and directed the employer to make payments under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  See Payette v. Grayline of Alaska, AWCB Decision No. 00-0172 (August 9, 2000).  Neither party appealed that ruling.


Based on the board’s decision, the employer requested the employee provide an accounting of his claim for benefits.  On August 17, 2000, the employee’s attorney wrote employer’s counsel demanding payment of various benefits and submitted 59 pages of medical bills supporting his demands.
  (Bates Stamp 4-5).  The employee did not submit any completed reports on board form 07-6102 with his medical bills, as required by 8 AAC 45.082(d).


A.
Temporary Total Disability


The employee claims he is entitled to 18 days of temporary total disability benefits.  The employee was taken to Alaska Regional Hospital following the August 7, 1998 auto accident and received follow-up care from Charles Aarons, M.D., at Medical Park Family Care.  Dr. Aarons authorized time loss from work for the period August 10, 1998 through August 31, 1998. (8/10/98 Disability Certificate).  The employer paid temporary total disability benefits with interest and penalties from August 10, 1998 through August 26, 1998.  


The record reveals the employee returned to work on August 26, 1998.  When seen by Dr. Aarons on August 20, 1998, the employee told his physician that he did not feel he could return to his employment with Grayline, but would be ready to begin his job with the Anchorage School District when it began for the 1998-1999 school year.  (See Dr. Aarons’ August 20, 1998 Chart Note).  Carol J. Lee, school district payroll assistant, testified the 1998-1999 school year started on August 26, 1998.  Ms. Lee stated that according to her review of payroll records, the employee returned to work when the school year began on August 26, 1998 and missed a total of 18 days during the 1998-1999 school year. In support of his claim, the employee submitted a letter from Ms. Lee:

Richard Payette is employed with the Anchorage School District as a Teacher.  His date of hire is 08/27/92.  Mr. Payette’[s] leave activity report for 98/99 school year is 14-days used sick leave, 2-days used annual leave and 2-days of leave without pay for a total of $630.38 not paid.

(8/16/00 Letter from Carol J. Lee).

Ms. Lee provided another letter on behalf of the employee, which stated:

Richard Payette is employed by the Anchorage School District as a Teacher.  Mr. Payette used 14 days sick leave, 2 days annual and 2 days of leave without pay.

08/28/98 1.0 sick, 08/27/98 1.0 sick, 10/12/98 1.0 sick, 10/21/98 1.0 sick, 10/30/98 1.0 sick, 11/18/98 1.0 sick, 11/25/98 1.0 sick, 11/25/98 1.0 sick, 12/10/98 1.0 sick, 12/14/98 1.0 annual, 01/28/99 1.0 annual, 02/10/99 1.0 sick, 2/16/99 1.0 sick, 02/17/99 1.0 sick, 02/18/99 1.0 sick, 02/22/99 1.0 sick, 04/14/99 1.0 sick, 05/11/99 1.0 lwop, 05/24/99 1.0 lwop.  The total loss of pay is $630.38.

(8/21/00 Letter from Carol J. Lee).


The employee contends he was unable to work on the dates referenced by Ms. Lee in her August 21, 2000 letter because he either had to have medical treatment or because he did not feel well.  The employer contends the employee was able to work on each of 18 days claimed.  The record reveals that the medical reasons for the employee’s absences are as follows:

1. August 27, 1998.  The employee was seen by Dr. Child for neck and shoulder pain.

2. August 28, 1998.  No evidence of medical care.

3. October 12, 1998.  The employee underwent an x-ray.

4. October 21, 1998.  The employee had a follow-up visit with Dr. Bilan.  (The employee first treated with Dr. Bilan on October 13, 1998).  

5. October 30, 1998.  The employee underwent a bone scan at Providence Hospital.

6-9. November 18, 1998, November 25, 1998, December 10, 1998 and December 14, 1998.  The employee had follow-up chiropractic care with Dr. Bilan. (See Dr. Bilan’s 1/26/01 Letter).

10-13. January 28, 1999, February 10, 1999, February 16, 1999, February 17, 1999.  No evidence of any medical treatment.

14. February 18, 1999.  The employee was seen by Dr. Aarons for right flank pain.  It is undisputed the right flank pain was unrelated to the work-related injury.

15. February 22, 1999.  The employee underwent a CT scan related to the right flank pain.

16. April 14, 1999.  The employee underwent a colonoscopy.  It is undisputed the colonoscopy is not related to the August 7, 1998 injury.

17-18. May 11, 1999 and May 24, 1999.  No evidence exists of any medical treatment.


The employee’s treating chiropractor, Mark Bilan, D.C., wrote on behalf of the employee:

Mr. Payette’s injuries warranted him missing work on the following dates:




10/21/98




11/25/98




12/10/98




12/14/98

He did receive treatment at the Ireland Clinic on those dates.

(Dr. Bilan’s 1/26/01 Letter).

Dr. Bilan also testified at hearing that he believed the employee’s treatment with the Ireland Clinic was appropriate.  He further testified he was his usual practice to indicate in his chart notes any authorized time-off from work due to injury.  Dr. Bilan admitted his chart notes did not reflect any authorized time-off. Dr. Bilan testified his appointments last between 15 minutes to one-hour.


Christine Johnson, office manager for Robert W. Lipke, M.D., wrote a letter on behalf of the employee:

Richard Payette was seen by Dr. Lipke or by providers he referred Mr. Payette to on the following dates:


10-23-98 – office visit


10-30-98 – bone scan


11-6-98 – office visit


2-9-99 – office visit


8-14-2000 – PPI rating

(Undated Christine Johnson Letter).


Charles L. Aarons, M.D., wrote on behalf of the employee:

Mr. Payett [sic] was involved in a motor vehicle accident on August 7th or August 8th of 1998.  He came to this clinic for evaluation of problems resultant to this accident on the following dates: on August 10th he saw Dr. Gary Child.  On August 13th he saw me.  On August 20 he saw Dr. Gary Child.  On August 27th he saw Dr. Gary Child.  On September 22nd he saw me.  On October 12th he saw me.  He did not see anybody in our clinic after that regarding this motor vehicle accident.  He was, however, referred to Chugach Physical Therapy and he was also referred to Dr. Robert Lipke, who in turn referred him to Laurie Hartley, who is a specialist in hand/upper extremity physical therapy.  I do not know all the dates of those visits.  He also apparently went to a chiropractor, but I do not have any direct knowledge of that.  All of the visits that I know about were medically appropriate.

All of the visits mentioned with dates that do not have a year after them were in the year 1998.

(Dr. Aarons’ 1/23/01 letter).


On October 3, 2000, the employer paid the employee $2,000 for two weeks and six days of TTD from August 7, 1998 through August 26, 1998.  The employer also paid $2,700 for the 2% permanent partial impairment rating the employee received from Dr. Lipke.  (10/3/00 Compensation Report).

B.
Medical Benefits

Prior to the board's August 9, 2000 Decision and Order, the employee's medical expenses were paid by his private health carrier, the National Education Association (“NEA”) and by his automobile liability carrier, Horrace Mann.  Horrace Mann paid approximately $5,200 in medical expenses, $8,021.67 in property damage and a total of $61,849.88 to the employee and his counsel as a result of the August 7, 1998 auto accident.

On August 17, 2000 the employee’s attorney sent a letter to the employer with an "accounting" of the benefits the employee was seeking. Attached to the letter were copies of various statements on account, checks and, in some instances, medical bills. In his letter, the employee’s attorney provided a list of medical expenses he contended were related to the August 7, 1998 injury.  Some of the bills and expenses in the August 17, 2000 letter turned out to have been paid, or not related to the employee’s work injury.

On September 13, 2000, Theresa Reed, paralegal at the Law Office of Trena L. Heikes, wrote the employer’s adjuster outlining the status of the medical bills based on the information she had obtained from employee's attorney. At hearing, she testified regarding the steps she took prior to that date to correlate medical bills and charts notes and the difficulties she had because of the manner in which the information was presented.  

On October 2, 2000, attorneys for both parties conferred in an attempt to determine what medical expenses and reimbursements were owed. The attorneys were unable to achieve any further clarity and, on October 3, 2000 the employer paid benefits based on what it believed the information provided by the employee revealed.

On October 10, 2000, the employee's attorney sent a second letter demanding payment of $4,891.81 in reimbursement to the employee for certain medical expenses the employee claimed to have paid directly to medical care providers. This letter apparently compounded the confusion created by the August 17, 2000 letter. For example, the October 10 letter lists a charge of $28.23 for Chugach Physical Therapy.  This is actually the charge for Smith Beecham ($28.23) per the August 17, 2000 letter for which employee had already been reimbursed. Additionally, the bill from Alaska Regional Hospital is listed twice. First it is listed under Financial Corporation of America ($350.00) and then is listed again under Alaska Regional Hospital at $450.24. At hearing, Teresa Reed, paralegal for the Law Office of Trena L. Heikes, testified that the $450.24 balance is actually the balance for Chugach Physical Therapy. Ms. Reed was unable to identify a bill or statement that corresponded with the $350.00 for Financial Corporation of America since the document from this company showed a balance of $77.48. The printout from Chugach Physical Therapy actually indicates employee received a refund on December 9, 1999 in the amount of $77.48. Thus, employee had already been reimbursed the $77.48 he demanded on October 10, 2000.  

Further efforts by the parties to clarify the bills met with no success.  On November 22, 2000 the adjuster's payment log was sent to the employee's attorney by fax and the attorneys again met in an attempt to clear up the confusion. The matter was not resolved to employee's satisfaction and a hearing was scheduled.  Five days prior to hearing, on February 2, 2001, the employee filed a Notice of Intent to Rely in which he provided new medical information never before provided the employer. In his hearing brief, the employee's claim for reimbursement was reduced from the $4,891.81 previously demanded on October 10, 2000 to $1,114. At hearing, the employee introduced Exhibit W‑1, summarizing his medical bills. In this exhibit the employee claimed he was owed $821.09 for medical bills he had paid and not the $1,114.00 he had previously claimed in his hearing brief filed five days earlier.  

At hearing, the employee testified regarding his claim for penalties and additional reimbursement for medical expenses. Teresa Reed, a paralegal at the Law Office of Trena L. Heikes, testified as well regarding her efforts to decipher the information provided by the employee in the August 17, 2000 letter and attachments. She testified that much of the information provided was confusing and inconsistent. At the conclusion of the hearing, the employer requested and obtained a medical release from employee to further explore the payments made and the employee's additional demands for reimbursement.  Ms. Reed's post‑hearing efforts are summarized in her February 23, 2001 Affidavit. 

The employee claims he is owed the following medical bills:

- A compromise figure owed to Alaska 

   Regional’s collection agency


$450.24

- Paid by Mr. Payette to Dr. Lipke


$244.00

- Prescriptions





$24.35

- Medical Park Family Care



$12.50

- Alaska Regional Hospital (bone scan)

$117.00

The employee withdrew his request for $90.00 to Internal Medicine, since this charge was not related to his work injury.  Below is a history of the medical bills in dispute.

1. Alaska Regional Hospital

On May 30, 2000, a one-page hospital chart note from Alaska Regional Hospital was submitted to the board. On August 17, 2000, the employee's attorney submitted a letter demanding payment of outstanding charges of $77.48 to Alaska Regional (later identified as Chugach Physical Therapy), $712.80 to Columbia Alaska Regional Hospital and $50.00 for his payment to Columbia Alaska Regional Hospital. (Bates Stamp 4‑5) However, the documents attached to the letter indicated total charges of $1,889.44 and payments of $1,625.68 by NEA with an adjustment of $449.04 as a possible reimbursement to some unknown party. (Bates Stamp 12‑14).  Another document reveals the employee paid $150.00 to Alaska Regional Hospital.  (Bates Stamp 16).  No chart notes beyond the one page hospital chart note were tendered.


Based on this information, the employer paid $150.00 to the employee and $1,625.68 to the NEA on October 3, 2000. The employer claims it was unable to determine based on the information provided what, if any, additional monies were due and to whom they might be due.


On October 10, 2000, after the employer issued a check to Alaska Regional, the employee sought reimbursement for an additional $350.00 and $450.24 he allegedly paid Alaska Regional Hospital (Financial Corporation of America). No documentation was enclosed. (Bates Stamp 3).  It is not clear where the $350.00 came from.  According to the employer, Alaska Regional, which had a contract with NEA, actually charged NEA only $449.04 under the contract between NEA and the hospital. When NEA determined that the charges were for an automobile accident, it then denied coverage and it became necessary for Alaska Regional to readjust the bill.  Alaska Regional refunded the $449.04 payment to NEA and added back in the $1,228.13 previously discounted amount leaving a balance of $1,889.84. Employee's insurer, Horace Mann, paid $1,176.64. However, because of the manner in which the bill was presented initially, Ms. Reed incorrectly determined that NEA had in fact paid $1,625.68 and the employer thus overpaid this amount. Based on the new information obtained by the employer, NEA had been overpaid $1,625.68 and the employer is seeking reimbursement of that amount. The employer agrees that the employee has paid a total of $450.24 to Alaska Regional to which he is entitled to reimbursement. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).

2.
Chugach Physical Therapy


The employee demanded payment of $178.20 outstanding to Chugach Physical Therapy and $15.20 for payment of "Physical Therapy" in his letter of August 17, 2000. (Bates Stamp 5).  Along with his letter, the employee tendered an account summary reflecting a balance due of $891.00. (Bates Stamp 20). A second summary of account revealed $813.52 paid by an insurer leaving a balance of $77.48. (Bates Stamp 21).  The employee also attached a copy of a money order showing payment of $77.48 to Chugach Physical Therapy and a Benefits Statement from NEA showing payment of $60.80 for services rendered by Chugach Physical Therapy on October 9, 1998 totaling $76.00. (Bates Stamp 25‑26).  No physician's reports were received. The chart notes are included in the employer's January 16, 2001 medical summary.


Based on the above, the employer tendered $77.48 to the employee and $813.52 to NEA on October 3, 2000. Because no bill was received from Chugach Physical Therapy supporting the $60.80 payment by NEA, the employer needed more information before tendering additional sums to Chugach Physical Therapy or NEA.  By letter dated October 10, 2000 the employee again demanded reimbursement of the $77.48 paid to him on October 3, 2000.  (Bates Stamp 3).

At hearing, Ms. Reed testified that upon receipt of the Horace Mann records she determined the $813.52 was actually paid by Horace Mann and not NEA. The employer has now requested a refund of the $813.52 paid NEA. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).  Based on information acquired since the hearing, the employer has learned NEA erroneously paid the $60.80 to Chugach Physical Therapy, as the employee did not in fact attend his physical therapy session on that date. In addition, NEA also erroneously paid the employee $60.80. Finally, the employer learned that on December 3, 1999, Alaska Regional/Chugach Physical Therapy refunded the employee the $77.48 he had tendered them on November 24, 1999. The employee failed to inform the employer he had actually been refunded the monies contained in the Money Order. (Bates Stamp 25).  This failure  resulted in an overpayment to the employee of $77.48.  (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).

3. Denali Emergency Medical Association


In his August 17, 2000 letter, the employee demanded payment to Denali Emergency Medical Association of $156.56 and tendered a bill reflecting a balance due of $156.56 for services rendered on February 20, 2000, some eighteen months post‑injury. (Bates Stamp 5, 27).  No physician's reports or chart notes were tendered. Given the date of service and the lack of any chart note, the employer has not paid.  Since receiving the employee's medical release, the employer inquired with Denali Emergency Medical Association and learned that the bill relates to emergency services for bronchitis and has been paid in full by the employee's private health insurer. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).

4. 
Imaging specialists

In his August 17, 2000 letter to the employer, the employee demanded payment of $426.60 to Imaging Specialists of Alaska. (Bates 5‑6).  The employee also submitted a statement from Imaging Specialists of Alaska with the letter revealing a balance due of $387.00. (Bates Stamp 30). No physician’s reports were provided. The chart notes are included in the employer's January 16, 2001 medical summary. The employer paid $387.00 to Imaging Specialists on October 3, 2000.

The employer has since learned that the bill had in fact been paid in full on May 31, 2000 by NEA and Blue Cross of Washington.  The $387.00 is now listed as a credit by Imaging Specialists and the employer has contacted NEA so they may request reimbursement from Imaging Specialists. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).

4. Internal Medicine Associates


In his August 17, 2000 letter, the employee demanded payment of $90.00 for services rendered by Internal Medicine Associates. (Bates Stamp 5).  Attached to the letter, the employee included two pages of bills each totaling $90.00 from Internal Medicine Associates. (Bates Stamp 28‑29).  The bills reflected only a balance due and contained no information as to the nature and purpose of the service.  No physician's report or chart notes were provided.  Ms. Reed testified that because Beth Baker, M.D., of Internal Medicine Associates was listed on the Emergency Room report, she assumed Dr. Baker must have been present and rendered treatment at the time of the employee's admission to the hospital. The employer therefore paid $180.00 to Internal Medicine Associates.  On October 10, 2000, the employee demanded reimbursement of $90.00 for monies he allegedly paid Internal Medicine Associates for injury‑related medical treatment. (Bates 3).  On cross-examination at hearing, however, the employee admitted the bills were not for treatment rendered relative to his workers' compensation injury.  Nevertheless, the employee demanded a penalty be assessed for late payment of these bills.

Also at hearing Ms. Reed testified that a further review of the medical records in preparation for the hearing revealed that Dr. Baker did not render treatment relative to the employee's work injury but rather the bills reflected treatment for asthma nearly two weeks before the auto accident. Following that testimony, the employee then withdrew his claim for reimbursement, payment of the bills and penalties.  The employer has since contacted Internal Medicine Associates with the employee's medical release and has learned that no monies were due Internal Medicine Associates and that upon receipt of the employer's payment of $180.00, Internal Medicine promptly applied $90.00 to an outstanding medical bill for services rendered the employee for an unrelated condition and refunded the remaining $90.00 to the employee. The employer is seeking reimbursement of $90.00 from Internal Medicine Associates and requests an offset of the $90.00 tendered to the employee as the services by Dr. Baker were not related to the work injury. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).

5. Ireland Chiropractic 


In his August 17, 2000 letter, the employee demanded payment of $3,740.00 in medical bills from Ireland Chiropractic. (Bates Stamp 4).  Accompanying the letter were four checks from the employee evidencing payment of $3,125.00 to Ireland Chiropractic. (Bates Stamp 31‑32). Also provided was a print‑out of payments and an adjustment of $615.08 on Account No. 18790.  Nothing on the print‑out identified the medical provider and no bill was provided until the employee filed a Notice of Intent to Rely five days prior to hearing. No physician’s reports were provided. The chart notes were included in the employer's January 16, 2001 medical summary.

Based on this information, the employer assumed the employee was due $3,125.00 and tendered this amount to employee on October 3, 2000. By letter dated October 10, 2000, employee again demanded payment of $3,125.00 in reimbursement for chiropractic expenses. (Bates Stamp 3).  At hearing, Ms. Reed testified that information later received from Horace Mann revealed an additional $1,643.00 was paid by Horace Mann to Ireland Chiropractic. (Employer's Exhibit 2).  The employee therefore withdrew his demand for reimbursement and penalties on the Ireland Chiropractic bills.

6. Dr. Lipke

The employee demanded payment of a total of $722.00 to Dr. Lipke in his August 17, 2000 letter. (Bates Stamp 4‑5).  The bills attached to the letter reveal three visits totaling $340.00 of which $96.00 had been paid by NEA leaving a balance due of $244.00. No physician's reports were tendered.  The chart notes are attached to employer's January 16, 2001 medical summary.  Based on the above, the employer tendered $244.00 to Dr. Robert Lipke on October 3, 2000.

By letter dated October 10, 2000, the employee demanded payment to him for $400.00 he allegedly paid to Dr. Lipke. (Bates Stamp 3).  No bills or receipts were provided.  In his February 1, 2001 Notice of Intent to Rely, the employee submitted a patient ledger indicating an additional charge of $500.00 for the employee's PPI rating, $244.00 in cash payments made by the employee and the employer's payment of $244.00 on October 3, 2000 with a balance due of $256.00.

The employer has since contacted Dr. Lipke's office following receipt of the employee's medical release and has verified the amount outstanding. Dr. Lipke's office explained it was directed to tender all bills to the Anchorage School District and for that reason has sent no billings to the employer.  Dr. Lipke's office indicated it would rebill the employer. Upon receipt of same, the employer has agreed to pay $500 to Dr. Lipke for the PPI rating, and Dr. Lipke's office will then reimburse the employee the $244.00 paid by employee on the account.  (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).

7. Medical Park Family Care

 
The employee demanded payment of $739.00 to Medical Park Family Care in his letter of August 17, 2000. (Bates Stamp 5).  Some fifteen pages of statements, insurance forms and explanation of benefits referencing treatment at Medical Park Family Care accompanied the letter. (Bates Stamp 38‑52).  No physician's reports were provided. The chart notes are attached to the employer's January 16, 2001 medical summary. The information provided does not support the employee's claim for payment of $739.00. Rather, the information reveals a balance due Medical Park of $476.00 and a payment of $79.00 by an insurer. Ms. Reed testified that given the discrepancy, she contacted Medical Park Family Care and learned the total amount charged by Medical Park was actually $977.00, of which $504.00 had been paid by Horace Mann with a $5.00 adjustment, leaving a balance due of $468.00. The employer therefore tendered a check to Medical Park Family Care on October 3, 2000 in the amount of $468.00.  In the confusion, the employer also tendered $397.00 to employee on October 3, 2000, thinking the employee had paid this sum to Medical Park Family Clinic.  One week later, the employee's attorney demanded payment of $79.00 to the employee in reimbursement for monies he claimed he paid Medical Park because “NEA had declined to pay... and Horace Mann's medical pay did not cover" this item. (Bates Stamp 3).

On February 1, 2001 employee filed a Notice of Intent to Rely containing an Account Summary from Medical Park Family Care. Ms. Reed testified that her review of the Account Summary revealed neither the $397.00 paid to the employee by the employer nor the $79.00 demanded by the employee on October 10, 2000 had been paid by employee. Rather, contrary to the statements contained, in employee's letter of October 10, 2000, those amounts were paid by the employee's auto liability carrier, Horace Mann. The employer has therefore overpaid the employee $397.00 and seeks an offset of this amount. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).

At hearing, the employee demanded an additional $12.50 for interest he allegedly paid on the account. (See Account Summary attached to February 1, 2001 Notice of Intent to Rely).  The employee has not, however, provided any evidence of payment.

8. Providence Hospital/Health Systems

In his August 17, 2000 letter, the employee demanded payment to Providence Alaska Medical Center and Providence Health Systems (Providence) in the amount of $705.60. (Bates Stamp 5).  The employee provided no itemized bill but attached four pages of various statements indicating services had been rendered on October 29, 1998 in conjunction with the employee's bone scan. (Bates Stamp 53‑56).  No physician's reports or no chart notes were provided, although a bone scan report was received by the employer and filed with the employer's January 16, 2001 medical summary. The four pages provided to the employer reveal balances of $588.00 and $117.60 for a total of $705.60 due Providence. The employer therefore tendered this amount to Providence on October 3, 2000.  One week later, the employee's attorney demanded payment to the employee of an additional $117.60. (Bates Stamp 3). No evidence of payment was tendered by the employee. After receipt of a medical release from the employee, the employer contacted Providence and learned that the information initially provided by the employee on August 17, 2000 was incorrect. The total bill was only $588.00 and not $705.60, as initially demanded by the employee in his letter of August 17, 2000. Moreover, NEA had paid $470.40 on January 19, 1999 and the bill had been reduced by $50.00 leaving a balance due of $117.60, which the employee subsequently paid. When Providence received the employer's payment of $705.60, it reimbursed NEA the $470.40 it paid on January 26, 2001, refunded $117.11 to the employee on January 17, 2001 and returned a $117.60 overpayment to Ward North America. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed). Thus, the employee had been reimbursed by Providence Hospital prior to the February 7, 2001 hearing, yet still demanded reimbursement and penalties from the employer.

9. 
Smithkline Beecham 

In his letter of August 17, 2000, the employee demanded payment of $28.23 to Smithkline Beecham for laboratory work performed through Medical Park. (Bates Stamp 4).  Attached to his letter, the employee provided four pages of money orders and bills from collection agencies revealing lab services on unknown dates totaling $28.23 and the employee's payment thereof. (Bates Stamp 59‑62).  No physician's reports or chart notes were provided.  Nevertheless, the employer assumed the bills were for services rendered relative to the employee's claim and reimbursed the employee $28.23. On October 10, 2000, the employee again demanded reimbursement of $28.23, but this time for expenses allegedly related to treatment with Chugach Physical Therapy. (Bates Stamp 3). Following the hearing, the employer contacted the collection agency identified in the documents provided by the employee on August 17, 2000 and learned that the charges were related to an endoscopy undertaken by the employee on April 16, 1999, and not related to the August 7, 1998 injury. As such, the employer claims it has overpaid employee $28.23 and seeks an offset of this amount.

10. 
Carrs Pharmacy
Attached to the employee's August 17, 2000 letter was a one-page document containing two prescriptions. (Bates 58). The copy is nearly illegible. No physician reports, chart notes, prescription notes or receipts of payment were provided. The employer claims it was unable to determine what, if anything, was owed and therefore sought clarification. In his letter of October 10, 2000, the employee demanded payment of $24.26 for three prescriptions he claimed were related to his injury. (Bates Stamp 3). No additional information was provided.

Since acquiring a signed medical release, the employer contacted Carrs Pharmacy in an effort to obtain additional information regarding the prescriptions. No information was received. (Affidavit of Teresa M. Reed).  The employer asserts that, upon receipt of additional information in the form of receipts and chart notes from the employee or Carrs Pharmacy indicating the prescriptions relate to employee's claim and that additional monies are owed the employee, the employer will make payment to the employee accordingly.

11. National Health Care Resources

In his letter of August 17, 2000, the employee demanded payment of $248.00 to National Health Care Resources.  (Bates Stamp 5).  Attached to the letter, the employee provided an Explanation of Benefits from National Health Care Resources evidencing payment of $248.00 of a $250.00 bill for x‑rays and medical treatment by Medical Park. (Bates Stamp 45).  No bill was provided from Medical Park although the dates of service coincide with other bills provided from Medical Park and thus it appears to be part of the Medical Park billing. 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
Is the Employee Entitled to Additional Temporary Total Disability Benefits?

A.
Presumption Analysis


AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter . . . ."  The Alaska Supreme Court has held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.”  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279, (quoting Municipality of Anchorage, 818 P.2d at 665).  The Supreme Court has held that, since the Workers’ Compensation Act creates a presumption that a claim comes within the provisions of the statute, it must be presumed that an injury is work-connected in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary.  Beauchamp v. Employer’s Liability Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993 (Alaska 1970).


The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987), establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment, Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316, or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.  Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74.


The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link."  Id. Second, once the preliminary link is established, "it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.”  Id. (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the claim is not compensable.  Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation.  Veco, 693 P.2d at 869. 


"Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.  We defer questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).  


The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not compensable, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  A longstanding principle in Alaska workers' compensation law is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.  Beauchamp, 477 P.2d 993.

B.
Is the Employee Entitled to Additional Temporary Total Disability Benefits?

1.
August 26, 1998

We do not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the first stage of the presumption analysis.  DeYonge v. NANA/Marriot, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000).  The evidence reveals the employee had time loss authorization from Dr. Aarons from the date of injury through August 31, 1998.  We find this raised the presumption of compensability for TTD benefits through August 31, 1998.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279. The employee having established a presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence.  We find the employer has rebutted this presumption with substantial evidence.  The employer produced evidence that on August 20, 1998, the employee told Dr. Aarons he "plans on being ready to restart his teaching position."  On August 26, 1998, the employee returned to work at his teaching job with the school district.  We find this rebutted the presumption of compensability.  DeYonge, 1 P.3d 90.  


Based on Dr. Aaron's release, the August 20, 1998 chart note and the employee's own conduct, we find the employee had the physical ability to return to work on August 26, 1998.  We find that the employer paid the employee TTD benefits through August 26, 1998 based on the employee's August 17, 2000 demand.  We find the employee returned to work on August 26, 1998. 


We found the employee credible in our initial decision.  Payette, AWCB Decision No. 00-0172 at 13.  However, this matter was very complex and involved numerous complicated expenditures, which, we conclude, compromised the employee’s recollection of the facts.  AS 23.30.122.  Accordingly, we relied more heavily on the documents submitted to us in making our decision.  We find the employee has failed to prove his entitlement to temporary total disability for August 26, 1998.  We find the employer is therefore entitled to a 100% offset for disability benefits paid for that day.  AS 23.30.155(j).

2. February 18, 1999, February 22, 1999 and April 14, 1999 


The employee claims he is entitled to 18 days of disability benefits because he was either required to take time off work for medical treatment or because he felt ill for reasons related to his work injury.  The evidence before us reveals the employee was seen by Dr. Aarons for right flank pain on February 18, 1999 and had a CT scan related to the right flank pain on February 22, 1999.  The employee also underwent a colonoscopy on April 14, 1999.  It is undisputed that these conditions are not related to the employee’s work injury.  We find the employee has failed to raise the presumption of compensability for these dates that he missed from work. Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d 316.  Accordingly, the employee’s claim for temporary total disability benefits for these days is denied and dismissed.


3.
August 28, 1998, January 28, 1999, February 10, 1999, February 16, 1999, February 17, 1999, May 11, 1999 and May 24, 1999.

The evidence before us reveals that no medical care was rendered to the employee on the following dates: August 28, 1998, January 28, 1999, February 10, 1999, February 16, 1999, February 17, 1999, May 11, 1999 and May 24, 1999.  We find there is no proof the employee was otherwise temporarily totally disabled on these dates.  We instructed the employee at the conclusion of the hearing to submit detailed records specifically outlining his contentions regarding compensation.  He failed to do so.  We find the employee has failed to raise the presumption of compensability for these dates that he missed from work. Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d 316.  Accordingly, the employee’s claim for temporary total disability benefits for these days is denied and dismissed.


4.
August 27, 1998; October 12, 1998; October 21, 1998, October 30, 1998, November 18, 1998, November 25, 1998, December 10, 1998 and December 14, 1998

The evidence reveals that the employee was treated for his work injury on the following dates: August 27, 1998 (Dr. Childs); October 12, 1998 (x-ray); October 21, 1998; October 30, 1998 (bone scan); November 18, 1998, November 25, 1998, December 10, 1998 and December 14, 1998 (Dr. Bilan).  We find the employee has raised the presumption of compensability for these dates. Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d 316.  

Although Dr. Bilan initially wrote that the employee was warranted in missing four days from work due to his treatments, he testified at hearing that his treatments typically last between 15 minutes to one-hour.  Additionally, the evidence demonstrates the employee’s August 27, 1998 examination and his October 12, 1998 x-ray did not last all day.  We find that this evidence rebuts the presumption that the employee was totally disabled for these dates. See DeYonge, 1 P.3d 90.  However, we find the employer did not rebut the presumption that the employee was temporarily partially disabled on all these days.  AS 23.30.200. We also find the employer failed to rebut the presumption of compensability for October 30, 1998.  The employee produced evidence that his bone scan lasted approximately the full day, and this evidence has not been rebutted.
The preponderance of evidence persuades us that the employee was not totally disabled for the entire days of these examinations (with the exception of October 30, 1998).  The employee presented no evidence, such as the employer’s sick day policy, that would indicate that the employee was required to miss an entire day of work to attend these short examinations.  We can find no compelling reasons in the record for the employee to miss entire days from work to attend these examinations.  We find the employee was temporarily partially disabled for these dates. AS 23.30.200.  Allowing for a generous amount of time to get to and from his examinations, and for waiting time at his physician’s offices, we conclude the employee is entitled temporary partial disability benefits for two hours of disability on each of these dates.  We conclude the employee is entitled to TTD benefits for October 30, 1998.  We will award a penalty on these 14 hours + 1 day (October 30, 1998), since the presumption for compensability on these hours was not rebutted.  AS 23.30.155.  

II.
Is the Employee Entitled to Additional Medical Benefits?

The employee claims he is entitled to $938.09 in additional medical benefits.  The employer claims it is entitled to an offset on overpayments.  AS 23.30.095(c) states:

A claim for medical or surgical treatment, or treatment requiring continuing and multiple treatments of a similar nature is not valid and enforceable against the employer unless, within 14 days following the treatment, the physician or health care provider giving the treatment or the employee receiving it furnishes to the employer and the board notice of the injury and treatment, preferably on a form prescribed by the board.  The board shall, however, excuse the failure to furnish notice within 14 days when it finds it to be in interest of justice to do so, and may, upon application by a party in interest, make an award for the reasonable value of the medical or surgical treatment so obtained by the employee…

8 AAC 45.082(d) states:

Medical bills for an employee’s treatment are due and payable within 14 days after the date the employer received the medical provider’s bills and a completed report on form 07-6102…  If the employer does not pay

(1) a medical bill or if the medical bill is not paid in full as billed, the employer shall tell the employee and medical provider in writing the reasons for not paying all or part of the bill or the reason for delay in payment within 14 days after receipt of the bill and completed report on form 07-6102.

8 AAC 45.086 states:

(a) A provider who renders medical or dental services under the Act shall file with the board and the employer a substantially complete Form 07‑6102 within 14 days after each treatment or service.

(b) The board will, in its discretion, deny a provider's claim of payment for medical or dental services if the provider fails to comply with this section.


It is not currently disputed that the employer owes the employee $450.24 for treatment the employee received at Alaska Regional Hospital.  However, because the employee submitted these bills to multiple insurance companies for reimbursement, and the employee failed to comply with the board’s regulations – specifically, the duty to submit his medical bills on a board prescribed form -- this resulted in the wrong party being reimbursed by the employer.  We find the employee failed to comply with the board’s regulation, 8 AAC 45.082(d), and with AS 23.30.095(c), and therefore these bills have not become due and payable yet. We have the discretionary authority under AS 23.30.095(c) to excuse the failure of the employee and his medical care providers to comply with the reporting requirements in a timely manner.  We will exercise our discretion under .095(c) and excuse this failure. We find that the employee is entitled to be reimbursed the $450.24 he paid to Alaska Regional Hospital.  However, since this amount does not become due and payable until this board decision, no penalty is due on this amount.  AS 23.30.155.


We find that the employer overpaid the employee $77.48 for his Chugach Physical Therapy bills.  We find the employee has been reimbursed the $77.48 he tendered to Chugach Physical Therapy on November 24, 1999.  Accordingly, we will grant the employer’s request for a 100% offset on this amount.  AS 23.30.155(j).


We find that the employer paid the employee $90.00 for treatment he received from Internal Medicine Associates for treatment unrelated to his work injury.  Accordingly, we will grant the employer’s request for a 100% offset on this amount.  AS 23.30.155(j).


On October 10, 2000, the employee demanded $400.00 that he allegedly paid to Dr. Lipke.  However, no bills or receipts were provided to the employer until February 1, 2001.  We find the employee has failed to comply with the board’s regulations and with the statute regarding the filing of medical bills.  AS 23.30.095(c); 8 AAC 45.082(d).  We will exercise our discretion under .095(c) and excuse the employee’s failure.  When Dr. Lipke’s bill is properly submitted to the employer, the employer shall pay the outstanding bill and reimburse the employee for payments that he made to Dr. Lipke.  Since the amount did not become due and payable by virtue of the employee’s failure to comply with the board regulations, no penalty is due on this amount.  AS 23.30.155.


The employee has demanded $12.50 for interest he allegedly paid to Medical Park Family Care.  The employee has not provided any evidence to support this claim.  Accordingly, his claim for this amount is denied and dismissed.  We find the employer has overpaid the employee $397.00 for treatment the employee received at Medical Park Family Care.  Accordingly, we will grant the employer’s request for a 100% offset on this amount.  AS 23.30.155(j).


We find the employer paid $28.23 for charges related to an endoscopy the employee received on April 16, 1999, which is not related to the employee’s work injury.  Accordingly, we will grant the employer’s request for a 100% offset on this amount.  AS 23.30.155(j).


We find the employer has failed to comply with the board’s regulations regarding the submission of prescription bills incurred at Carrs pharmacy.  We will exercise our discretion and excuse this failure and order the employee to submit prescription-related bills to the employee according to the board’s regulations.


The employee seems to have abandoned his request for reimbursement for the National Health Care Resources bill.  Nonetheless, we find the document from National Health Care Resources was not a separate billing for services performed and thus no payment, penalties or interest are due thereon.  8 AAC 45.082(d).
III.
Future benefits and penalties under AS 23.30.255(a)
At the hearing, the employee requested that we order the employer to pay for unknown future medical benefits even though the employee had not requested those benefits or had medical authorization for those benefits.  The Workers’ Compensation Act does not authorize an award of speculative future benefits and we therefore decline to award them here. 


At hearing, the employee contended, for the first time, that he was entitled to penalties under AS 23.30.255(a). The employee asserts that the employer’s failure to pay benefits was in violation of AS 23.30.255(a), which states:

An employer required to secure the payment of compensation under this chapter who fails to do so is guilty of a class B felony if the amount involved exceeds $25,000 or a class C felony if the amount involved is $25,000 or less…

The employer is an authorized self-insured employer under AS 23.30.090, and has its claims administered through Ward North America.  We conclude that this provision of the Workers’ Compensation Act is not applicable to this claim.

IV.
Is the Employee Entitled to Attorney’s Fees?

We find the employee’s attorney has successfully prosecuted a small portion of the employee’s claims.  AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less then 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.

(b) If an employer fails to... pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs of the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.


In this matter, the employee’s counsel argued for 18 days of temporary total disability benefits.  We awarded 14 hours of temporary partial disability benefits, or approximately two full days of benefits plus one day of TTD benefits, and penalties.  The employee’s counsel argued for $938.09 in medical costs.  We awarded some of those costs, but awarded the employer offsets on several bills.  Since we found the employee had not complied with the board’s regulations regarding the filing of medical billing information, we awarded no penalties under AS 23.30.155.  The employee’s counsel argued for criminal sanctions under AS 23.30.255(a), but we declined to refer this matter to the District Attorney for investigation.  The employee requested we award unspecified future benefits, and we denied this request.  The employee’s counsel obtained a small fraction of the benefits requested.  


At the conclusion of the hearing, it was apparent to the board that the employee had requested payment of bills unrelated to his work injury, had sought TTD benefits for dates to which he had no proof of disability, and had not accurately prepared his claim for presentation to the board.  Accordingly, in hopes of clarifying the discrepancies, the board took the extraordinary step of ordering the parties to file proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, and ordered them to detail their respective positions regarding each specific expense and item of compensation sought. (See Hearing Tape II).  The employer submitted a thorough and detailed document.  On the other hand, the employee failed to comply with the board’s order to supply us with detailed information regarding the benefits to which the employee was entitled, and cited no cases in his proposed findings of fact and conclusion of law.  Accordingly, we will award the employee statutory minimum attorney’s fees on all additional benefits received by the employee as a result of this decision and order.

ORDER
1. The employer is entitled to a 100% offset for disability benefits paid to the employee for August 26, 1998.

2. The employee’s claims for TTD benefits for February 18, 1999, February 22, 1999, April 14, 1999, August 28, 1998, January 28, 1999, February 10, 1999, February 16, 1999, February 17, 1999, May 11, 1999 and May 24, 1999 are denied and dismissed.

3. The employer shall pay the employee for two hours of temporary partial disability benefits for the following dates: August 27, 1998, October 12, 1998, November 18, 1998, November 25, 1998, December 10, 1998 and December 14, 1998, plus penalties.  The employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits for October 30, 1998, plus penalties.

4. The employer is ordered to reimburse the employee $450.24 for expenses incurred at the Alaska Regional Hospital.

5. The employer is entitled to a 100% offset for the $77.48 that it overpaid the employee for treatment the employee received at Chugach Physical Therapy.

6. The employer is entitled to a 100% offset for the $90.00 that it overpaid the employee for treatment the employee received at Internal Medicine Associates.

7. The employee is ordered to submit Dr. Lipke’s bill to the employer in accordance with the board’s regulations.  The employer is ordered to pay this outstanding bill and ensure that Dr. Lipke’s office reimburses the employee for payments that he made to Dr. Lipke.

8. The employee’s claim for $12.50 for interest he allegedly paid to Medical Park Family Care is denied and dismissed.

9. The employer is entitled to a 100% offset for the $397.00 that it overpaid the employee for treatment the employee received at Medical Park Family Care.

10. The employer is entitled to a 100% offset for the $28.23 that it paid to the employee for an endoscopy, which was unrelated to his work injury.

11. The employee is ordered to submit prescription bills incurred at Carrs pharmacy in accordance with the board’s regulations within 30 days of this decision and order. 

12. The employee’s claim for reimbursement for expenses incurred at National Health Care Resources is denied and dismissed.

13. The employee’s claim for speculative future medical benefits is denied and dismissed.

14. The employee’s request that we refer this matter to the district attorney for criminal investigation under AS 23.30.255(a) is denied and dismissed.

15. The employer is ordered to pay the employee his statutory minimum attorney’s fees on all additional benefits received by the employee as a result of this decision and order.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this     day of March, 2000.
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If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25% will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION


Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of RICHARD R. PAYETTE employee / applicant; v. GRAY LINE OF ALASKA, employer; HOLLAND AMERICA LINE, insurer / defendants; Case No. 19981735; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this      day of March, 2000.

                             

   _________________________________

      






Serafine Bourne, Clerk
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� These documents, along with several other important attorney communications, were organized and Bates stamped by the employer.  For ease of reference, when possible, we will refer to these documents by their Bates stamped number.
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